IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

DO NOT REMOVE

FROM FILE

### STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA, Plaintiff Below, Respondent,

vs.) No. 21-0382

(A Certified Question arising FILE COPY rom the Circuit Court of Cabell County, Case No.: 14-F-512)

MICHAEL PAUL CONN, Defendant Below, Petitioner.

# **PETITIONER'S BRIEF**

Counsel for the Petitioner, Michael Conn

Jeremy B. Cooper WV State Bar ID 12319 Blackwater Law PLLC 6 Loop St. #1 Aspinwall, PA 15215 Tel: (304) 376-0037 Fax: (681) 245-6308 jeremy@blackwaterlawpllc.com

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In January of 1998, the Petitioner was charged in indictment 98-F-39 with multiple counts of 3<sup>rd</sup> Degree Sexual Assault. (Joint Appendix ["J.A."], at 1-2). On July 28, 1998, the Petitioner entered a guilty plea to one count of 3<sup>rd</sup> Degree Sexual Assault before Hon. Alfred E. Ferguson. On August 26, 1998, the Petitioner filed a motion to withdraw that plea, apparently because he did not want to enter a plea that would require him to register as a sex offender under the law in effect at that time. (J.A., at 19-21). An order was entered dismissing the indictment at 98-F-39. (J.A., at 69). A new plea agreement was reached, and the Petitioner entered a guilty plea to information 98-F-161, Attempt to Commit an Assault during the Commission of a Felony. (J.A., at 3-4). That plea was entered on August 28, 1998, and the defendant was sentenced to 1-3

years of incarceration. (J.A., at 5-9). During the August 28, 1998 plea hearing, the prosecutor proffered that the evidence the State would prove at trial "would be that on or about August the 20<sup>th</sup>, 1997, that the defendant, Michael Conn, did actually have intercourse with a juvenile, [T.E.], who was under the age of sixteen and less – and more than four years difference between their ages." (J.A., at 31).

In 2000, the West Virginia Legislature amended the sexual offender registry requirements, which were stated explicitly to apply both prospectively and retroactively. After this change, the Petitioner was instructed to register as a sex offender following his release on parole in 2001. He has been required to register for life since that time. (J.A., at 22, 75). The Petitioner was subsequently reincarcerated for a parole violation, and filed a petition for postconviction habeas corpus relief in 2003, 03-C-1067, contesting this registration. (J.A., at 10-15).

Following the Circuit Court's initial denial of the habeas petition, this Court considered this matter in a motions conference on September 14, 2005, and remanded for the Circuit Court to make written findings of fact concerning whether the Petitioner's 1998 conviction was sexually motivated. The matter was then returned to this Court on a mandamus petition seeking enforcement of the prior remand order on the motions docket of March 16, 2006, with that mandamus petition being granted unless sooner mooted. Thereafter, a hearing was held on May 19, 2006 before Judge Ferguson, at which time he made written findings that the 1998 offense was sexually motivated, based upon the State's proffer at the August 28, 1998 plea hearing. (J.A., at 40-42). The Petitioner appealed this ruling to this Court, which refused to hear the appeal by order entered October 11, 2006.

In 2014, the Petitioner was charged in the currently contested indictment 14-F-512, with

2

six counts of Failure to Register as a Sex Offender or Provide Notice of Registration Changes. (J.A., at 43-44). Following an apparent failure to appear at arraignment, a warrant was issued in December of 2014, and executed on May 25, 2017. (J.A., at 77). The Petitioner then entered a no contest plea to two counts of Failure to Register on January 9, 2018, and was sentenced to two 1-5 year sentences to run consecutively. (J.A, at 45-50, 52-53). He served approximately two years, mostly in St. Mary's Correctional Center, on these failure to register convictions. (J.A., at 58).

The Petitioner then filed a "PETITION FOR WRIT OF ERROR CORAM NOBIS and MOTION IN ARREST OF JUDGMENT AND FOR DISMISSAL OF THE INDICTMENT" in March of 2021, seeking to vacate his convictions and to dismiss his indictment, on the theory that he should have only been required to register for ten years, and was therefore no longer required to register as a sex offender at the time the indictment alleged that he violated his registration requirements. (J.A., at 55-68). The Respondent filed a written response, which, while acknowledging that "assault during commission of a felony" is not a qualifying offense under the statute that could lead to a lifetime registration, the "underlying felony" of that charge – third degree sexual assault – is itself a qualifying offense. (J.A., at 76-82). The Circuit Court held a hearing on this matter on April 20, 2021, following which the Circuit Court entered an order certifying a question to this Court as described above.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This matter turns on the plain language of W. Va. Code §15-12-1, et. Seq. (2013), the "Sex Offender Registration Act" ("the Act"). Specifically, Section 4 of the Act requires that before a person can be required to register for life (as opposed to ten years) for an offense against a minor, the person must be convicted of a "qualifying offense" against a minor. The question of what is a qualifying offense is a simple one, as that term is defined in the Act as any crime listed in §15-12-2(b). Notably, the crime for which the Petitioner was convicted is not among those crimes listed in §15-12-2(b). Instead, the Petitioner was required to register based on a circuit court's written finding of sexual motivation, which can be the basis of a registration for a nonqualifying offense pursuant to §15-12-2(c). An entire hearing was held in Circuit Court, at this Court's direction, to determine whether the Circuit Court could make findings to support a requirement to register. Moreover, while the Legislature specifically provided in the Act that an attempt to commit a qualifying offense is to be considered the same as a qualifying offense, it made no parallel provision for the "underlying crime" in an assault during commission of a felony. This case presents a straightforward issue, and can be easily resolved by applying the plain language of the Act.

#### STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

This Court has already indicated by prior order that it has granted oral argument in this case. While the legal issues arising in this certified question are arguably resolved by the application of settled law, there is reason to believe that the State Police may, based on that agency's administrative rules, be imposing an illegal lifetime registration on other similarly situated registrants in West Virginia. For that reason, this Court should resolve this matter by signed opinion clearly holding that cases involving minor victims in which there is a written finding of sexual motivation, rather than conviction of a qualifying offense, cannot be the basis

for a lifetime registration under the Act.

#### ARGUMENT

#### A. Standard of Review

The appropriate standard of review for this case is de novo, for two reasons. First,

because it is the generally applicable standard for certified questions. See, Syllabus Point 1,

Gallapoo v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 197 W.Va. 172, 475 S.E.2d 172 (1996). Second, because this

matter entirely concerns the interpretation of a statute:

1. "'Where the issue on an appeal from the circuit court is clearly a question of law or involving an interpretation of a statute, we apply a de novo standard of review.' Syllabus point 1, *Chrystal R.M. v. Charlie A.L.*, 194 W.Va. 138, 459 S.E.2d 415 (1995)." Syllabus point 3, *Alden v. Harpers Ferry Police Civil Service Commission*, 209 W.Va. 83, 543 S.E.2d 364 (2001).

Syl. Pt. 1, State v. Brandon B., 624 S.E.2d 761, 218 W. Va. 324 (2005). Accordingly, this Court

may employ plenary review of the underlying proceedings.

# **B.** A sex offender registration predicated on a written finding of sexual motivation, rather than the commission of a "qualifying offense" cannot, by definition, be a lifetime registration.

This case presents a simple issue. That issue is whether a conviction for "Assault During

the Commission of a Felony," pursuant to W. Va. Code § 61-2-10, in conjunction with a written

finding of sexual motivation by a Circuit Court, may be the basis for a lifetime registration under

W. Va. Code §15-12-4(a). This issue can be resolved by applying the plain language of the Act,

which is entirely unambiguous, and requires no application of the rules of statutory construction.

The duration of a registration under the Act is determined based upon the following

language:

(a) A person required to register under the terms of this article shall continue to comply with this section, except during ensuing periods of incarceration or confinement, until:

(1) Ten years have elapsed since the person was released from prison, jail, or a mental health facility or 10 years have elapsed since the person was placed on probation, parole, or supervised or conditional release. The 10-year registration period may not be reduced by the sex offender's release from probation, parole, or supervised or conditional release; or

(2) For the life of that person, if that person: (A) Has one or more prior convictions or has previously been found not guilty by reason of mental illness, mental retardation, or addiction for any qualifying offense referred to in this article; (B) has been convicted or has been found not guilty by reason of mental illness, mental retardation, or addiction of a qualifying offense as referred to in this article, and upon motion of the prosecuting attorney, the court finds by clear and convincing evidence that the qualifying offense involved multiple victims or multiple violations of the qualifying offense; (C) has been convicted or has been found not guilty by reason of mental illness, mental retardation, or addiction of a sexually violent offense; (D) has been determined pursuant to §15-12-2a of this code to be a sexually violent predator; or (E) has been convicted or has been found not guilty by reason of mental illness. mental retardation, or addiction of a qualifying offense as referred to in this article, involving a minor or a person believed or perceived by the registrant to be a minor.

W. Va. Code §15-12-4(a) (emphasis added).

As alluded to in the above code section, the Act explicitly defines a "qualified offense" as

follows:

(e) (1) On the date that any person convicted or found not guilty by reason of mental illness, mental retardation, or addiction of any of the crimes listed in §15-12-2(b) of this code, hereinafter referred to as a "qualifying offense"...

W. Va. Code §15-12-2(e)(1) (emphasis added).

W. Va. Code §15-12-2(b) lists the following crimes:

(b) Any person who has been convicted of an offense or an attempted offense or has been found not guilty by reason of mental illness, mental retardation, or addiction of an offense under any of the following provisions of this code or under a statutory provision of another state, the United States Code or the Uniform Code of Military Justice which requires proof of the same essential elements shall register as set forth in §15-12-2(d) of this code and according to the internal management rules promulgated by the superintendent under authority of §15-2-25 of this code:

(1) §61-8A-1 et seq. of this code;

(2) §61-8B-1 et seq. of this code, including the provisions of former §61-8B-6 of this code, relating to the offense of sexual assault of a spouse, which was repealed by an act of the Legislature during the 2000 legislative session;

(3) §61-8C-1 et seq. of this code;

(4) §61-8D-5 and §61-8D-6 of this code;

(5) §61-2-14(a) of this code;

(6) §61-8-6, §61-8-7, §61-8-12, and §61-8-13 of this code;

(7) §61-3C-14b of this code, as it relates to violations of those provisions of chapter 61 listed in this subsection; or

(8) §61-14-2, §61-14-5, and §61-14-6 of this code: Provided, That as to §61-14-2 of this code only those violations involving human trafficking for purposes of sexual servitude require registration pursuant to this subdivision.

W. Va. Code §15-12-2(b).

Notably, there is no reference to the crime for which the Petitioner pleaded guilty, which was (attempted) assault during the commission of a felony, encoded at W. Va. Code § 61-2-10. The Respondent does not contest that the Petitioner's requirement to register was predicated upon the written findings of the Circuit Court, which were entered belatedly in this matter following the Petitioner's initiation of a habeas proceeding on the subject of his registration requirement. By definition, a registration requirement that is predicated on a written finding arises under W. Va. Code §15-12-2(c), and not under §15-12-2(b), the latter of which defines the bounds of a "qualifying offense.

The three subsections of code quoted above are sufficient to resolve the certified

question. This is the same argument (among others not within the scope of this certified question) advanced by the Petitioner in the lower court. (J.A., at 54-58). There is no ambiguity whatsoever in any of the relevant statutory language.

8. "A statutory provision which is clear and unambiguous and plainly expresses the legislative intent will not be interpreted by the courts but will be given full force and effect.' Syl. Pt. 2, *State v. Epperly*,135 W.Va. 877, 65 S.E.2d 488 (1951)." Syl. Pt. 6, *State ex rel. Biafore v. Tomblin*, 236 W. Va. 528, 782 S.E.2d 223 (2016).

Syl. Pt. 8, State ex rel. St. Clair v. Howard, 856 S.E.2d 638 (W. Va. 2021).

The argument advanced by the Respondent below appears to be based upon one of two theories; either that the written factual finding of sexual motivation itself encompasses conduct that would constitute a qualifying offense, or that the "underlying" felony of the assault during a commission of a felony is a qualifying offense (third degree sexual assault in both instances). (J.A., 76-82). Neither one of these ideas finds any support in the plain language of the statute. W. Va. Code §15-12-4(a)(2)(E) requires a *conviction* (or acquittal by reason of insanity) of a qualifying offense, not simply a finding determining that the acts constituting a qualifying offense were committed.

Similarly, the notion that third degree sexual assault being the "underlying" offense for the assault during the commission of a felony somehow transmutes the latter charge into a qualifying offense finds no support in the statute. In fact, it is clear that the Legislature, if it had intended to make the "underlying" crime involved in a conviction for a violation W. Va. Code § 61-2-10 part of the analysis of what is a qualifying offense, could have done so. The Legislature specifically included language in W. Va. Code §15-12-2(b) which deems all convictions of an "attempt" to commit a qualifying offense as qualifying offenses themselves. It clearly could have taken a similar tack with "underlying" offenses for other crimes, or other inchoate offenses, but it did not do so. If this Court were to find sufficient ambiguity in the statute to resort to rules of statutory construction, the argument advanced by the Respondent would be defeated by the presence of language authorizing the use of the underlying crime in an attempt, without mentioning a similar provision for any other crimes that may involve an underlying offense. "In the interpretation of statutory provisions the familiar maxim *expressio unius est exclusio alterius*, the express mention of one thing implies the exclusion of another, applies." Syl. Pt. 3, *Manchin v. Dunfee*, 174 W.Va. 532, 327 S.E.2d 710 (1984). The arguments advanced by the Respondent do not survive scrutiny in light of the statutory language of the Act.

Finally, it is worth noting what may be the genesis of the improper determination by the State Police (which has not yet been rectified) that the Petitioner is a lifetime registrant. It is notable that both the version in effect in 2013, and the current version of the WV State Police Regulations 81 CSR 14, state in section 18-14-7.2.b that lifetime registration is to be imposed upon a "conviction or finding of not guilty by reason of mental illness, mental retardation or addiction of a sexually violent offense or any offense determined to be sexually motivated[.]" This regulation is obviously unlawful in light of the plain text of the statute, but it nevertheless demonstrates the probable genesis of the State Police's mistake in this case. For the reasons described in this brief, there is no statutory authority for the lifetime registrations of individuals who have a finding of sexual motivation, because, by definition, such individuals have not been convicted of a qualifying offense.

#### CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Petitioner respectfully requests that this Court answer the

certified question in the negative, hold that offenses against minors that are not "qualifying offenses" may not be the source of a lifetime registration requirement, and grant any other relief the Court deems just and proper.

MICHAEL PAUL CONN, Petitioner, by counsel,

Fereny B. Cooper WV State Bar ID 12319 Blackwater Law PLLC 6 Loop St. #1 Aspinwall, PA 15215 Tel: (304) 376-0037 Fax: (681) 245-6308 jeremy@blackwaterlawpllc.com

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

#### STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA, Plaintiff Below, Respondent,

vs.) No. 21-0382

MICHAEL PAUL CONN, Defendant Below, Petitioner. (A Certified Question arising from the Circuit Court of Cabell County, Case No.: 14-F-512)