DO NOT REMOVE



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Docket No. 21-0382

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent,

V.

FILE COPY

MICHAEL PAUL CONN,

Petitioner.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Circuit Court of Cabell County Case No. 14-F-512

> PATRICK MORRISEY ATTORNEY GENERAL

LARA K. BISSETT
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
1900 Kanawha Blvd., E.
State Capitol, Bld. 6, Ste. 406
Charleston, WV 25305
Telephone: (304) 558-5830
Facsimile: (304) 558-5833

State Bar No. 9102

Email: Lara.K.Bissett@wvago.gov

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The circuit court has certified a single question to this Court. The circuit court, however, failed to answer that question. Thus, the certified question has not been properly presented to this Court. Should this Court determine to proceed in deciding the matter nonetheless, it should answer the question in the affirmative. The Legislative intent and the language of the Sex Offender Registration Act are clear and unambiguous: in order to further the compelling interest of protecting the public from sex offenders, a conviction for attempt to commit a felony—which felony is a qualifying offense pursuant to West Virginia Code § 15-12-2(b)—against a minor requires lifetime registration for the offender.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

This case is set for Rule 20 oral argument before this Court during the January 2022 term of Court. This case is not suitable for memorandum decision.

ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review.

The standard of review for this certified questions case is *de novo*. Syl. Pt. 1, *Gallapoo v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 197 W. Va. 172, 172, 475 S.E.2d 172, 172 (1996) ("The appellate standard of review of questions of law answered and certified by a circuit court is *de novo*.").

B. The order of certification is not properly before this Court inasmuch as the circuit court did not answer the certified question.

Certified question procedures, being in derogation of the common law, are to be strictly construed. Syl Pt. 1, State v. Brown, 159 W. Va. 438, 223 S.E.2d 193 (1976). Thus, the requirements of any statutory authority for certified questions must be closely complied with before this Court may exercise jurisdiction over a certified question. In the instant case, the certified questions procedures set forth in the West Virginia Code and the Rules of Appellate Procedure were not met.

West Virginia Code § 58-5-2 allows for the certification of questions of law to this Court:

Any question of law, including, but not limited to, questions arising upon the sufficiency of a summons or return of service, upon a challenge of the sufficiency of a pleading or the venue of the circuit court, upon the sufficiency of a motion for summary judgment where such motion is denied, or a motion for judgment on the pleadings, upon the jurisdiction of the circuit court of a person or subject matter, or upon failure to join an indispensable party, may, in the discretion of the circuit court in which it arises, be certified by it to the Supreme Court of Appeals for its decision, and further proceedings in the case stayed until such question shall have been decided and the decision thereof certified back. The procedure for processing questions certified pursuant to this section shall be governed by rules of appellate procedure promulgated by the Supreme Court of Appeals.

Rule 17(a)(1) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure requires that the certification order from the circuit court

contain a concise statement of each question of law, the answer to each question of law by the circuit court or administrative tribunal, a notation of the extent to which the action is stayed pending resolution of the certified questions, and a directive to the parties to prepare a joint appendix of the record sufficient to permit review of the certified questions.

In the instant case, however, the circuit court failed to answer the certified question. "In a case certified to this Court pursuant to the provisions of Code, 58–5–2, this Court will consider and decide only such questions as are certifiable under the provisions of the statute and only such questions within that category as have been decided by the circuit court and certified by it to this Court." Syl. Pt. 1, Bd. of Ed. of Kanawha Cty. v. Shafer, 147 W. Va. 15, 124 S.E.2d 334 (1962) (emphasis added). Accordingly, this Court lacks the authority to answer the certified question and should remand the certification order to the circuit court for an answer by the lower court as mandated by § 58-5-2 and Rule 17(a)(1).

C. In the event this Court determines to proceed with a decision on the certified question, it should answer the certified question in the affirmative because the Sex Offender Registration Act clearly delineates that an attempt to commit one of the enumerated "qualifying offenses" requires lifetime registration as a sex offender.

The Sex Offender Registration Act ("the Act") provides that "[a]ny person who has been convicted of an offense or an attempted offense" enumerated in the Act shall be made to register as a sex offender. W. Va. Code § 15-12-2(b) (emphasis added). The Act specifies that if a registrant "has been convicted . . . of a qualifying offense as referred to in this article, involving a minor or a person believed or perceived by the registrant to be a minor," he or she shall register for life. W. Va. Code § 15-12-4(a)(2)(E). There is no dispute that the victim in the instant matter was a minor child of just thirteen years. J.A. 20, 84-85. Nor does Petitioner contest that he must register as a sex offender based on the circuit court's finding of sexual motivation alone. Pet'r's

Br. 7. Petitioner argues, rather, that his conviction for attempt to commit a felony² is not one of the Act's enumerated offenses which would necessitate lifetime registration and that a finding that his crime was sexually motivated alone is not sufficient to sustain an order of lifetime registration. Pet'r's Br. 5, 7. While Petitioner is adamant that "the plain language of the Act" clearly does not provide for his lifetime registration as a sex offender, his argument is not supported by the language of the statute or existing legal precedent.

To be sure, attempt to commit a felony as proscribed by West Virginia Code § 61-2-10, to which Petitioner pled guilty, is not one of the qualifying offenses specified in the Act. Those include:

- (1) § 61-8A-1 et seq. of this code;
- (2) § 61-8B-1 et seq. of this code, including the provisions of former § 61-8B-6 of this code, relating to the offense of sexual assault of a spouse, which was repealed by an act of the Legislature during the 2000 legislative session;
- (3) § 61-8C-1 et seq. of this code;
- (4) § 61-8D-5 and § 61-8D-6 of this code;
- (5) § 61-2-14(a) of this code;
- (6) § 61-8-6, § 61-8-7, § 61-8-12, and § 61-8-13 of this code;
- (7) § 61-3C-14b of this code, as it relates to violations of those provisions of chapter 61 listed in this subsection; or
- (8) § 61-14-2, § 61-14-5, and § 61-14-6 of this code: *Provided*, That as to § 61-14-2 of this code only those violations involving human trafficking for purposes of sexual servitude require registration pursuant to this subdivision.

² Petitioner's brief represents that he was convicted of "(attempted) assault during the commission of a felony, encoded at W. Va. Code § 61-2-10." In reality, the record makes clear that the information to which Petitioner pled guilty charged "attempt to commit a felony," pursuant § 61-11-8. J.A. 4. Likewise, the plea and sentencing order indicates that Petitioner pled guilty "to the felony offense of 'ATTEMPT TO COMMIT A FELONY,' a provable offense as contained in Information No. 98-F-161. J.A. 5. Accordingly, he was adjudged "guilty of Attempt to Commit a Felony." J.A. 7.

W. Va. Code § 15-12-2(b). This Court has recognized, however, that the statutory offense of attempt to commit a felony does not exist in a vacuum. "As one commentator has noted, 'The crime of attempt does not exist in the abstract but rather exists only in relation to other offenses[.] W. LaFave & A. Scott, Handbook on Criminal Law 49 (1972)." State v. Starkey, 161 W. Va. 517, 522 n.2, 244 S.E.2d 219, 223 n.2 (1978), overruled on other grounds by State v. Guthrie, 194 W. Va. 657, 461 S.E.2d 163 (1995); see also State v. James F., No. 15-0194, 2016 WL 2905508, at *3 (W. Va. Supreme Court, May 18, 2016) (memorandum decision) ("[T]he [attempt] statute establishes the punishment for attempting, unsuccessfully, to commit some crime specified elsewhere in the code[.]"). Quoting Starkey, the Fourth Circuit has recognized the same: "[W]e note a unique complexity of general attempt statutes: they do not set forth a standalone crime." United States v. Dozier, 848 F.3d 180, 185 (4th Cir. 2017); see also United States v. Collins, 808 F. App'x 131, 136 (4th Cir. 2020), cert. denied, 141 S. Ct. 1080 (2021) ("Though we have held that 'both the inchoate crime and the underlying offense are subject to [the] categorical approach,' [] we have also recognized that general attempt statutes do not set forth standalone crimes [] and 'must be considered in relation to the object crime[.]'" (internal citations omitted)).

The question presented in this case is very similar to that presented in *State v. Scott*, No. 17-0526, 2018 WL 4944409, at *2 (W. Va. Supreme Court, Oct. 12, 2018) (memorandum decision). In *Scott*, this Court was tasked with deciding whether a person convicted of attempt to commit a felony could be made to serve extended supervised release when attempt to a commit a felony is not one of the enumerated offenses in West Virginia Code § 62-12-26 subject to extended supervision. *Id.* at *2. This Court noted, though, that "[t]he so-called 'crime of attempt' is defined by the underlying substantive crime." *Id.* The Court concluded, "Although the attempt statute under which petitioner was convicted is not specifically enumerated, the substance of his

conviction is inextricably linked to one of the crimes contained in the supervision statute. Therefore, petitioner is subject to the extended supervision statute and the requirements therein." *Id.* at *3; see also James F., 2016 WL 2905508, at *4 ("Because the petitioner's conviction and punishment under [the attempt statute] required that he commit the exact same conduct as that proscribed by West Virginia Code § 61–8D–5(a), i.e., attempted sexual contact with his child, and because an attempt crime is inextricably linked to the offense that was attempted, we have little trouble in concluding that the petitioner must be subject to extended supervision.").

Here, the underlying offense to which Petitioner's conviction of attempt to commit a felony is inextricably intertwined is third degree sexual assault, which is proscribed by West Virginia Code § 61-8B-5³ and which is a qualifying offense for lifetime registration under §§ 15-12-2(b)(2) and 15-12-4. The State's proffer at Petitioner's guilty plea hearing made clear that, had the matter gone to trial, the State would have produced evidence that

on or about August the 20th, 1997, that [Petitioner] did actually have intercourse with a juvenile, [T.E.], who was under the age of sixteen and less – and more than four years difference between their ages, and [Petitioner] being twenty-two, I believe, at the time.

- (a) A person is guilty of sexual assault in the third degree when:
 - (1) The person engages in sexual intercourse or sexual intrusion with another person who is mentally defective or mentally incapacitated; or
 - (2) The person, being sixteen years old or more, engages in sexual intercourse or sexual intrusion with another person who is less than sixteen years old and who is at least four years younger than the defendant and is not married to the defendant.
- (b) Any person violating the provisions of this section is guilty of a felony and, upon conviction thereof, shall be imprisoned in a state correctional facility not less than one year nor more than five years, or fined not more than ten thousand dollars and imprisoned in a state correctional facility not less than one year nor more than five years.

³ Pursuant to West Virginia Code § 61-8B-5:

J.A. 84-85. That proffer is nearly identical to the allegations in Count IV of the original indictment in 98-F-39 charging third degree sexual assault:

That on or about the 20th day of August, 1997, in the county of Cabell, State of West Virginia, [Petitioner] committed the offense of "3rd DEGREE SEXUAL ASSAULT" by unlawfully and feloniously engaging in sexual intercourse with [the victim], a female person, less than sixteen (16) years of age, to wit: thirteen (13) years old, when the said [Petitioner] was more than sixteen (16) years of age and more than four (4) years older than the said [victim], against the peace and dignity of the State.

J. A. 2. Indeed, Petitioner does not refute that the felony underlying his conviction for attempt to commit a felony was third degree sexual assault. Rather, he argues that the language of the statute is clear and unambiguous and should be applied as written: that only those people convicted of one of the enumerated qualifying offenses themselves must register for life. Pet'r's Br. 7.

Respondent agrees that the language of the statute is clear and unambiguous. Respondent disagrees, though, that the intent of the Legislature is confined to that list of qualifying offenses. Indeed, the Legislature laid out its intent in the opening sections of the Act:

- (a) It is the intent of this article to assist law-enforcement agencies' efforts to protect the public from sex offenders by requiring sex offenders to register with the state police detachment in the county where he or she shall reside and by making certain information about sex offenders available to the public as provided in this article. It is not the intent of the Legislature that the information be used to inflict retribution or additional punishment on any person convicted of any offense requiring registration under this article. This article is intended to be regulatory in nature and not penal.
- (b) The Legislature finds and declares that there is a compelling and necessary public interest that the public have information concerning persons convicted of sexual offenses in order to allow members of the public to adequately protect themselves and their children from these persons.
- (c) The Legislature also finds and declares that persons required to register as sex offenders pursuant to this article have a reduced expectation of privacy because of the state's interest in public safety.

W. Va. Code § 15-12-1a (emphasis added). The only way to effectuate that intent is to read § 15-12-4 in pari materia with § 15-12-2(b) in its entirety and not just in the context of the list of qualifying offenses contained therein.

In that case, the clear and unambiguous language of § 15-12-2(b) is that "[a]ny person who has been convicted of an offense or an altempted offense," including third degree sexual assault, shall register as a sex offender. (Emphasis added.) The duration of that registration is prescribed by § 15-2-4, which finds that any person who "has been convicted... of a qualifying offense as referred to in this article, involving a minor or a person believed or perceived by the registrant to be a minor" shall register for life. W. Va. Code § 15-12-4 (a)(2)(E). When read together, those two code sections make clear that the Legislature intended for any person who commits or attempts to commit a qualifying offense against a minor child must register as a sex offender for the rest of his or her life.

Interestingly, Petitioner acknowledges that "the Legislature specifically included language in W. Va. Code § 15-12-2(b) which deems all convictions of an 'attempt' to commit a qualifying offense as qualifying offenses themselves." Pet'r's Br. 8. Again, "attempt to commit a felony" is not a standalone offense. *Starkey*, 161 W. Va. at 522 n.2, 244 S.E.2d at 223 n.2. The substance of Petitioner's conviction for attempt to commit a felony is "inextricably linked" to one of the qualifying offenses contained in the Act. *Scott*, 2018 WL 4944409, at *3. Necessarily, then, one must fill-in-the-blank, so to speak, and recognize that Petitioner's conviction was for attempt to commit third degree sexual assault. Accordingly, Petitioner must acknowledge that his conviction is a qualifying offense.

The balance of Petitioner's argument is a choppy sea of red herrings, tangling the line in circular arguments about Respondent's reasoning and harpooning State Police regulations which

are not at issue before this Court. Pet'r's Br. 9. He ends with this observation: "For the reasons described in this brief, there is no statutory authority for the lifetime registrations of individuals who have a finding of sexual motivation, because, by definition, such individuals have not been convicted of a qualifying offense." Pet'r's Br. 9. But as Respondent has demonstrated, Petitioner is a lifetime registrant because he was convicted of a qualifying offense—attempt to commit sexual assault in the third degree—not because his crime was found to be sexually motivated.

Therefore, this Court should answer the certified question in the affirmative. The language of the Sex Offender Registration Act makes clear that conviction of an attempt to commit a qualifying offense against a minor child requires that the offender register as a sex offender for the rest of his or her life. W. Va. Code § 15-12-2(b) and § 15-12-4. The record establishes that the felony which Petitioner attempted to commit was sexual assault in the third degree, J.A. 84-85, which is a qualifying offense. W. Va. Code § 15-12-2(b). Thus, the Legislature's intent that the necessary and compelling interest of protecting the public from sex offenders has been ensured by the circuit court's order that Petitioner—who, at the age of 22, had sex with a 13-year-old child, J.A. 84-85—register as a sex offender for the rest of his life.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should answer the certified question in the affirmative.